



1

Crime Prevention Center Office of the Attorney General

John K. Van de Kamp, Attorney General

105018

U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Justice

This document has been reproduced exactly as received from the person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the National Institute of Justice.

Permission to reproduce this copyrighted material has been

California Crime Prevention Center Office of the Attorney General

한 동 성격 이가 가장 것이라면 이것 것 같은 것을 냈다.

1

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS).

Further reproduction outside of the NCJRS system requires permission of the copyright owner.

Handbook

Prevention

Crime Prevention Center Office of the Attorney General

John K. Van de Kamp, Attorney General

PREFACE

Domestic violence is a growing problem, both in California and in the United States. Statistics from the California Department of Justice reveal that in almost one-third of all willful homicides the victim was killed by a spouse, parent or child. More dramatically, over half of all female homicide victims were killed by a spouse, parent or child.

The purpose of this handbook is to: provide basic information on the nature, laws, causes and consequences of domestic violence; describe the options and rights of domestic violence victims; explain the role of the criminal justice system with reference to domestic violence; and provide a list of available emergency services for domestic violence victims.

This handbook is designed as a useful reference for law enforcement officials, people in government and/or the private sector who assist victims of domestic violence, as well as the victims themselves. By communicating and working together, it is hoped we may find some solutions to this devastating social problem.

INTRODUCTION

Domestic violence is a term which is used in reference to many types of familial abuse, such as child abuse, spousal abuse and sibling abuse. This handbook will specifically address the physical abuse that occurs between couples involved in ongoing relationships (they may or may not be married). In the large majority of cases, the woman is the victim of domestic violence; thus, this handbook is primarily directed to the battered wife or woman. However, it should be noted that there is an increasing incidence of male victims of abuse, and the unique problems accompanying these situations will also be briefly discussed.

Domestic violence may begin with angry words, a shove or a slap. Sometimes this escalates and a pattern of abuse is established. Without intervention, the assaults often become more frequent and more violent as time goes on. Abuse may result in permanent physical injury or even death. Almost always it leaves the persons involved feeling isolated, angry, disappointed, lonely and bitter.

Acknowledgment

Special thanks to the Voluntary Legal Services Program of The State Bar of California whose booklet, The Legal Rights of Battered Women in California (originally prepared by Mara Braverman, Attorney at Law, with additional material from Domestic Violence: The Hidden Crime, by The Assault Crisis Center, Ann Arbor, Michigan), served as the basis for this handbook.

Special thanks also to Geraldine Stahly for her assistance in the development of this handbook. Ms. Stahly is a consultant and trainer in family stress intervention.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 6 OVERVIEW OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
- 6 The causes
- 6 The victim
- 6 The offender
- 6 For better or worse
- 7 The three-phase theory of family violence
- 9 The increasing spiral of violence
- 9 Effective intervention
- 10 The decision to change
- 11 THE LAW

15 IF YOU BECOME A VICTIM OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

15 Make sure you are safe from another beating

- 15 Get medical attention
- 15 Save all the evidence (proof) you can
- 16 Preliminary considerations
- 16 Moving out
- 18 Once you move
- 18 Court protective orders
- 18 Obtaining a restraining order
- 19 Enforcing the court order

20 THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

- 20 Calling the police
 20 When you call the police
 20 Arresting your batterer
 21 Citizen's arrest
- 21 Police report
- Li roirec repore
- 21 Deciding to prosecute
- 22 Arraignment
- 22 The trial and sentencing
- 23 Dispositional alternatives

24 HELP FOR BATTERED WOMEN

OVERVIEW OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

The causes

Violence between partners may be triggered by numerous factors, such as:

- Stress situations, e.g., job loss, pregnancy, role changes (such as the woman starting school);
- Frustrations;
- Alcohol/drug abuse;
- Abuse-prone attitudes and beliefs, e.g., "show the woman who's boss" and "a little slap is good for her";
- Sadistic personality;
- Childhood experiences of abuse and/or parental violence;
- Mental or physical disorders.

Until recently, domestic violence was largely viewed as a "family problem." Police, courts, hospitals and social service agencies hesitated to intervene. However, as part of the growing concern with women's rights and with violence in general, these agencies and other community groups are beginning to look more closely at the causes of violence within the home and to offer assistance to the victims.

The victim

There is no typical profile of domestic violence victims other than that they are usually female. Young, old, black, white, single, married, the professional, the unemployed, the rich, the poor - all may be potential victims of domestic violence.

Children are also victims - even if not physically abused themselves. When children witness violence between their parents, they may learn violence as a way of life and later become involved in abusive relationships themselves. In addition, violence in the home causes emotional suffering and corresponding problems.

The offender

Similarly, there is no profile of a domestic abuser. Like the victim, he may come from any walk of life. To the public, he may appear to be a good provider, a warm and loving father and a law-abiding citizen. Nevertheless, he frequently has a low opinion of himself. He often is under the influence of alcohol or drugs at the time of the assault. Usually, the abuser refuses to accept responsibility for his destructive behavior. He may claim: "I was drunk" or "I didn't know what I was doing"; or he may, in fact, believe the abuse was justified. In any case, the assaults usually continue.

For better or worse

One of the most frequently asked questions about domestic violence is "Why does she stay?"

There are many reasons why women (or men) remain in violent relationships: ignorance, love, fear, pride, embarrassment, financial dependence - or a combination thereof.

Domestic violence is often handed down from generation to generation. Many victims experienced family violence during their childhood and now accept it as a normal part of life. In fact, some women do not even realize that physical assault of a spouse is a crime.

Religious convictions also may play a part in the decision to remain in a violent relationship. Sometimes priests or pastors encourage victims to "stick it out." The marriage vows, "for better or worse, until death us do part," are taken literally. To leave would mean they had failed as wives and/or mothers.

Also, realistically, many women often lack money and job skills and - especially when there are children - are financially dependent on the abuser.

Many women are ashamed or embarrassed to admit that they are being beaten or that they made the wrong choice in a partner. (For battered men, the shame and embarrassment are greatly intensified due to typical social role patterns and expectations.)

The three-phase theory of family violence

Dr. Lenore Walker, chairperson of the Department of Psychology at Colorado Women's College, completed an extensive study of more than 1,000 battered women, as well as a smaller group of battering men. She found a pattern she labeled the three-phase theory of family violence. It involves the tensionbuilding phase, the acute battering incident and the loving reconciliation. The psychological dynamics of these three phases help explain why women feel so guilty and ashamed of their men's violence toward them and why they find it so difficult to leave, even when their lives are in danger.

TENSION-BUILDING PHASE:

Tension is a normal factor in everyone's life and in all relationships. Some people, however, for a variety of reasons, react to tension violently. Once violence occurs within a relationship, it compounds the normal tensions.

During the tension-building phase in a violent relationship, the woman senses her man's increasing tension. She may or may not know what is wrong. The man is "edgy" and lashes out in anger. He challenges her, tells her she is stupid, incompetent and unconcerned about his welfare. In a violent relationship, the woman generally lets the batterer know she accepts his blame of her. She "trys hard" not to make any "mistakes" that may upset him. She takes the responsibility for making him feel better, and thus begins to set herself up to feel guilt when he eventually explodes in spite of her best efforts to calm and please him.

During the increasing tension, the woman is rarely angry even at the most unreasonable demands or blame. Rather, she internalizes her appropriate anger at the man's unfairness and, instead, experiences depression, anxiety and a sense of helplessness. She may suffer physical symptoms related to her emotional distress: headaches, upset stomach, difficulty sleeping or feelings of weakness and tiredness are common. These problems increase the woman's sense of worthlessness and loss of control and make her more vulnerable to the man's criticisms.

The woman may deny her fear and minimize the seriousness of the threat, believing she can control the situation. Even if she acknowledges her fear and danger, she may be reluctant to seek help. She feels ashamed of her failure to please her man; and she believes, often correctly, that if other people knew about the violence they would blame her.

As the tension in the relationship increases, minor episodes of violence increase, such as pinching, tripping, slapping or shoving. The batterer knows his behavior is inappropriate, and he fears the woman will leave him. The fear of rejection and loss increases his rage at the woman and his need to control her.

ACUTE BATTERING INCIDENT:

The tension-building phase ends in an explosion of violence. The incident that sets off the man's violence is often trivial or unknown, leaving the woman desperately confused and feeling very helpless.

The woman may or may not fight back. She often trys to escape the violence or call for help. If she cannot escape the beating, she may have a sense of unreality - as if the beating is happening in a dream. She may not be aware of how badly she is hurt.

Following the battering, the woman is in a state of physical and psychological shock. She may be passive and withdrawn, or hysterical and incoherent. She may not be aware of the seriousness of her injuries and may resist getting treatment. The man discounts the episode and also underestimates the woman's injuries. He may refuse to summon medical help even when her injuries are life threatening.

LOVING RECONCILIATION:

The loving reconciliation may begin from a period of a few hours to several days following the acute battering incident. Both the man and the woman have a profound sense of relief that "it's over." While the woman may be initially angry at the man, he begins an intense campaign to "win her back." Just as his tension and violence were "overdone," his apologies, gifts and gestures of love may also be excessive, showering her with love and praise that helps her repair her shattered self-esteem. It is nearly impossible for her to leave him during this phase as he is meeting her desperate need to see herself as a competent and lovable woman.

The woman's feelings of power and her romantic ideals are nurtured. She believes this gentle, loving person is her "real" man. She believes that if only she can find the key, she can control him and prevent further violent episodes. No matter how often it has happened before, somehow this episode seems different and this time it will never happen again. During the loving reconciliation a strong love bond develops between the couple, isolating them both from reality and from anyone who might try to intervene in their destructive relationship. Anyone who has attempted to support the woman and urged her out of the violent relationship may now be seen as "the enemy" trying to separate the loving couple.

The loving reconciliation is a period of intense pleasure and reassurance for the couple. It convinces them that there is nothing wrong with their relationship and discourages them from seeking assistance. It is also isolating. When the violence does recur, the woman finds she has fewer and fewer places to turn for support.

The loving reconciliation also becomes a kind of reward of the violence. Psychologists have found that any behavior followed by a positive reward will occur more and more frequently. The more often periods of uncomfortable tension end in a violent explosion followed by loving closeness, the less likely alternatives for handling tension and stress will be developed by the couple. In order to end the violence, the insidious cycle must be broken and new alternatives for handling tension developed within the relationship.

The increasing spiral of violence

One aspect of family violence of particular concern is the progressive and spiraling nature of the problem. Once violence has begun, every study indicates that it not only continues, but over time increases in both frequency and severity. As the violence continues, the three-phase cycle begins to change. The tension-building phases become shorter and more intense; the acute battering incidents become more frequent and severe; and the loving reconciliations become shorter and less intense. After many years of battering, the man may no longer apologize at all.

The psychological consequences for the woman of the increasingly severe cycle of violence are feelings and behaviors that form another vicious cycle. She develops behavior patterns in response to the violence that function as traps that keep her from escaping the violent relationship. The escalating violence increases her need, but decreases her ability to find alternatives to the violent relationship.

Most abused victims are in fear for their lives or for the lives of their children. They may have tried to leave before, only to be found by their partners and abused or "punished" even worse than before. These people often decide that there is the help for them.

Understanding the paychological consequences of the violent relationship can help the woman take power and choose constructive life alternatives, as well as aid those who intervene to help her.

Effective intervention

Effective intervention in the violent relationship can be blocked by the mismatch between the cycles of violence and the timing of the intervention. The agencies mandated to help are not geared to respond effectively before the battering crisis occurs. Police agencies find it difficult to act when a

woman calls reporting a threat or the minor violence that precedes a severe battering. Likewise, the district attorney may be reluctant to file charges on a minor injury.

Shelters, however, find that many women come to them before a beating rather than afterward. During the tension-building phase, the woman's anxiety is high and she is often motivated to seek help. It is important to provide alternatives during this phase. The victim needs a positive and strong support group. The woman's self-esteem and self-confidence must no longer rise and fall with the moods of her violent partner if she is to build a safe and constructive life for herself.

Another problem blocking effective intervention is that the battered woman who seeks help is often frightened and unsure of herself. The consequences of her violent relationship - low self-esteem, dependency, passivity, helplessness, shame - make her a difficult client for the social service or criminal justice system. The criminal justice and social service systems respond best to a determined, decisive and assertive client. The battered woman needs to learn new behaviors in order to get her needs met outside of the battering relationship.

In addition, criminal justice and social service agencies must become sensitized to the special needs and problems of victims of domestic violence. The battered woman can rarely escape alone. A woman who has learned to be helpless will need especially strong support and patient help to find the strength to take alternatives that end her violent victimization. If the criminal justice and social service agencies fail to serve her because of her passivity and confusion, the woman may feel she has no option but to return to the violent relationship.

Where battered women's hotlines and shelters are available, domestic violence victims can find powerful and supportive advocates. But shelters do not exist everywhere and, where they are available, resources are desperately strained. They cannot do the job alone. Understanding the dynamics of the violent family can be the beginning of the process of developing more effective intervention by all agencies. Only effective, early intervention will break the deadly cycle of family violence.

The decision to change

The breaking point is different for every individual - but the day usually comes when a victim decides she can no longer take the physical and/or emotional abuse. It may be after the first or the fiftieth assault.

Everyone has the right to be safe from beatings and threats. The information contained in the rest of this handbook is directed to anyone who has been or may become the victim of domestic violence.

10

THE LAW

In California, it is a crime for any person to beat, sexually assault or otherwise harm another person, whether or not they are married. The following laws relate to domestic violence cases between adults (child abuse encompasses another set of laws).

Penal Code Section 187(a) - Murder defined

"(a) Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being, . . . with malice aforethought."

Penal Code Section 203 - Mayhem defined

"Every person who unlawfully and maliciously deprives a human being of a member of his body, or disables, disfigures, or renders it useless, or cuts or disables the tongue, or puts out an eye, or slits the nose, ear, or lip, is guilty of mayhem."

Penal Code Section 204 - Punishment

"Mayhem is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, four, or six years."

Penal Code Section 240 - Assault defined

"ASSAULT DEFINED. An assault is an unlawful attempt, coupled with a present ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another."

Penal Code Section 241 - Assault; punishment

"An assault is punishable by fine not exceeding five hundred dollars (\$500), or by imprisonment in the county jail not exceeding six months, or by both . . . "

Penal Code Section 242 - Battery defined

"BATTERY DEFINED. A battery is any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another."

Penal Code Section 243 - Battery; punishment

"A battery is punishable by fine of not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or by imprisonment in the county jail not exceeding six months, or by both. . . ."

Penal Code Section 244 - Assault with caustic chemicals; punishment

"Every person who willfully and maliciously places or throws, or causes to be placed or thrown, upon the person of another, any vitriol, corrosive acid, or caustic chemical of any nature, with the intent to injure the flesh or disfigure the body of such person, is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years."

Penal Code Section 245(a) - Assault with deadly weapon or force likely to produce great bodily injury; punishment

Every person who commits an assault upon the person of another with a deadly weapon or instrument or by any means of force likely to produce great bodily injury is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years, or in a county jail not exceeding one year, or by fine not exceeding five thousand dollars (\$5,000), or by both such fine and imprisonment. When a person is convicted of a violation of this section, in a case involving use of a deadly weapon or instrument, and such weapon or instrument is owned by such person, the court may, in its discretion, order that the weapon or instrument be deemed a nuisance and shall be confiscated and destroyed in the manner provided by Section 12028.

Penal Code Section 261 - Rape defined

"Rape is an act of sexual intercourse accomplished with a person not the spouse of the perpetrator, under any of the following circumstances:

- "1. Where a person is incapable, through lunacy or other unsoundness of mind, whether temporary or permanent, of giving legal consent.
- "2. Where it is accomplished against a person's will by means of force or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the person or another.
- "3. Where a person is prevented from resisting by any intoxicating, narcotic, or anaesthetic substance, administered by or with the privity of the accused.
- "4. Where a person is at the time unconscious of the nature of the act, and this is known to the accused.
- "5. Where a person submits under the belief that the person committing the act is the victim's spouse, and this belief is induced by any artifice, pretense, or concealment practiced by the accused, with intent to induce such belief.
- "6. Where the act is accomplished against the victim's will by threatening to retaliate in the future against the victim or any other person, and there is a reasonable possibility that the perpetrator will execute the threat. As used in this paragraph 'threatening to retaliate' means a threat to kidnap or falsely imprison, or to inflict extreme pain, serious bodily injury, or death."

Penal Code Section 262 - Rape of spouse

"Rape of a person who is the spouse of a perpetrator is an act of sexual intercourse accomplished against the will of the spouse by means of force or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the spouse or another or where the act is accomplished against the victim's will by threatening to retaliate in the future against the victim or any other person, and there is a reasonable possibility that the perpetrator will execute the threat. As used in this subdivision 'threatening to retaliate' means a threat to kidnap or falsely imprison, or to inflict extreme pain, serious bodily injury, or death."

There can be no arrest or prosecution under this section unless the violation is reported to a peace officer or to the county district attorney within 30 days of the violation.

Penal Code Section 263 - Rape; essentials; sufficiency of penetration

"The essential guilt of rape consists in the outrage to the person and feelings of the victim of the rape. Any sexual penetration, however slight, is sufficient to complete the crime."

Penal Code Section 264 - Rape; rape of spouse; punishment

The punishment for nonspousal rape is three, six or eight years in the state prison. Spousal rape is punishable either by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one year, or in state prison for three, six or eight years. If the rapist also inflicts great bodily injury on the victim, the punishment may be more severe.

Penal Code Section 273.5 - Corporal injury

"(a) Any person who willfully inflicts upon his or her spouse, or any person who willfully inflicts upon any person of the opposite sex with whom he or she is cohabiting, corporal injury resulting in a traumatic condition, is guilty of a felony, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years, or in the county jail for not more than one year.

"(b) Holding oneself out to be the husband or wife of the person with whom one is cohabiting is not necessary to constitute cohabitation as the term is used in this section."

Penal Code Section 273.6 - Violation of court order

Violation of a court order issued to prevent domestic violence is a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than \$500, or by a county jail term of up to six months, or both.

Penal Code Section 274 - Supplying or administering abortifacient; exception; punishment

"Every person who provides, supplies, or administers to any woman, or procures any woman to take any medicine, drug, or substance, or uses or employs any instrument or other means whatever, with intent thereby to procure the miscarriage of such woman, except as provided in the Therapeutic Abortion Act, Chapter 11 (commencing with Section 25950) of Division 20 of the Health and Safety Code, is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison."

Penal Code Section 278 - Child abduction; definition; punishment; return; expenses

"(a) Every person, not having a right of custody, who maliciously takes, entices away, detains or conceals any minor child with intent to detain or conceal such child from a parent, or guardian, or other person having the lawful charge of such child shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years, a fine of not more than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), or both, or imprisonment in a county jail for a period of not more than one year, a fine of not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both.

"(b) A child who has been detained or concealed in violation of subdivision (a) shall be returned to the person having lawful charge of the child. Any expenses incurred in returning the child shall be reimbursed as provided in Section 4605 of the Civil Code. Such costs shall be assessed against any defendant convicted of a violation of this section."

Penal Code Section 278.5 - Violation of custody decree; punishment; return; expenses

"(a) Every person who in violation of a custody decree takes, retains after the expiration of a visitation period, or conceals the child from his legal custodian, and every person who has custody of a child pursuant to an order, judgment or decree of any court which grants another person rights to custody or visitation of such child, and who detains or conceals such child with the intent to deprive the other person of such right to custody or visitation shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a period of not more than one year and one day or by imprisonment in a county jail for a period of not more than one year, a fine of not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both.

"(b) A child who has been detained or concealed in violation of subdivision (a) shall be returned to the person having lawful charge of the child. Any expenses incurred in returning the child shall be reimbursed as provided in Section 4605 of the Civil Code. Such costs shall be assessed against any defendant convicted of a violation of this section."

Penal Code Section 467 - Deadly weapons; possession with intent to assault

"HAVING POSSESSION OF DEADLY WEAPONS WITH INTENT TO COMMIT AN ASSAULT. Every person having upon him any deadly weapon with intent to assault another, is guilty of a misdemeanor."

IF YOU BECOME A VICTIM OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Make sure you are safe from another beating

If your attacker has left the house but may come back, you should leave or call a friend to come and stay with you.

If your attacker is still in the house and you think he may batter you again, you should leave. Go to a neighbor's house or call a friend or relative to come and pick you up. You can also ask the police to take you to a battered women's shelter or some other safe place, or ask them to tell you where a shelter is located, so you can get there on your own.

Whenever you believe you are in danger, leave your home and take your children. Even if you have to leave your house in your nightgown in the middle of the night, it is better than possibly subjecting yourself to a beating. Youmay be embarrassed, but you will have a better chance of being safe and unharmed. If you cannot leave the house, ask someone you trust to stay with you.

Get medical attention

Always get the medical attention you need after a beating. Don't try to patch yourself up. You may be injured much more seriously than you realize. As soon as possible, see your private doctor or go to the emergency room of a hospital. It is best to tell the doctor and nurses what happened to you so they can note it in their records. You can use the records for future evidence if needed. The most important thing is to get the medical care you need.

Save all the evidence (proof) you can

As much as you are able, you should save all evidence showing that you were attacked and how badly you were injured. You may not want to press charges now, but later you may change your mind, and you will then need proof that you have been assaulted.

Try to get a friend or someone from a battered women's center to take color photographs of your injuries as soon as possible after the beating. Do not use old-style Polaroid film (the type that requires application of a liquid "fixer") because the pictures will fade. You can also have pictures taken by the police, if you choose to call them.

Save any torn or bloody clothing. If you see a doctor after the beating, get a copy of your medical records. Ask the police for a copy of their report also.

Once you are out of physical danger, you can then consider the options open to you.

Preliminary considerations

At least for the short-term future, you must decide what action you want to take. Do you want to remain in the present situation? Even if this was the first time and you are not seriously injured, you should not take the event lightly. In some relationships, battering is a once-in-a-lifetime experience. However, in a large number of cases, the violence - once started - develops into a pattern of escalating abuse. If you do nothing else, you should seek professional counseling for yourself and your partner, or for yourself alone. Such intervention can prevent relatively minor problems from growing into intolerably abusive situations.

Other options include: 1) moving out for a period of time or for good; 2) insisting that your abusing partner move out for a period of time or for good; 3) remaining with the abuser. Under any of these conditions, professional counseling can be of invaluable assistance. A women's shelter or your county mental health agency can direct you to appropriate counseling services.

Moving out

Whether you decide to move out for a short time or for good, you need to consider the following:

TAKING YOUR CHILDREN:

You can legally take your children with you when you move out, unless your husband has been given sole legal custody of them.

Your children may be targets for abuse in your absence. If you believe you are in immediate danger and cannot take your children, contact the police immediately to arrange for their temporary protective custody. This does not mean you will lose your right to custody of your children. The question of permanent custody will be decided later by a judge.

WHERE TO GO:

If possible, stay with a woman friend or relatives. Do not stay with a man who lives alone unless he is your brother, father or grandfather. Living with a man you are not married to could hurt your chances of getting custody of your children or getting spousal support. It could also cause further conflict with your abuser.

You and your children can go to a battered women's shelter. A battered women's shelter is a temporary place to stay while you decide what you want to do next. The staff at the shelter can help you get legal, financial and medical help. You will also have an opportunity to talk with other women who have been battered. Most shelters are free or charge a very low fee. You can find a shelter by calling an emergency hot line in your community or a women's organization. There are phone numbers at the end of this publication. You can also ask the police to direct you to a shelter.

If you take your children with you, try to give them as much stability as possible. Moving frequently may adversely affect your children emotionally, as well as affect your chances for custody.

WHAT TO TAKE:

When you leave, whether you believe it will be for a short time or for good, be sure to take the following items:

- Driver's license or Department of Motor Vehicles I.D. Card
- Money
- Checkbooks
- Credit cards
- Keys
- Medications
- Address book
- Green card(s) (immigration verification)

If there is time, also consider taking as many of the following items as you can. You may have difficulty going back for these things later.

- Children's birth certificates
- Your birth certificate
- Pink slip to your car
- Lease, rental agreement, house deed
- Bankbooks
- Insurance papers
- Small salable objects
- Pictures
- Medical records (for the whole family)
- Social security cards
- Welfare identification
- School records
- Work permits
- Passport
- Divorce papers
- Jewelry

2mp

If you are thinking about leaving, it would be a good idea to put these things together in one place where you can get to them in a hurry.

Remember, legally you may take anything that belongs to you alone and anything that belongs to you and your husband together. You can withdraw money you have in a joint bank account with your husband or partner. You may not take anything that belongs only to your husband or partner. You may not destroy property that belongs to both of you or only to your husband or partner.

If you do not get everything you need when you leave, ask the police to escort you back to your house later to pick up items. The police will wait only a few minutes and will only allow you to take things that obviously belong to you or your children, such as clothing. Or, you can wait until your husband or partner goes to work or leaves the home for some other reason, and then go into the house to get what you need. However, if you do go back and your husband or partner won't let you in, the police probably cannot force him to let you in without a court order.

Once you move

If you are concerned that your attacker may try to find you, be careful to whom you (and/or your children) give your new address and phone number. Consider renting a post office box for your mail or using the address and phone number of a friend.

If you go to court, use a post office box number or your lawyer's address as your address. Otherwise your abuser's attorney may get your address through the district attorney's office or from some legal document.

Court protective orders

Court orders may be requested and granted which prohibit or require certain actions and behavior by your spouse or partner. For example, a temporary restraining order (TRO) may prohibit your spouse or partner from striking, molesting or harassing you; coming into your house or bothering you at work; or taking the children away from you.

A TRO, provided for under Sections 540-549 of the Code of Civil Procedure for the prevention of domestic violence, may be available to anyone who has been living with her attacker, whether or not the couple is married. You can apply for a TRO even if you have left the house to avoid further abuse and even if you have not filed for divorce if you are married. If you believe a TRO is necessary in your case, you must apply to the court for such an order as soon as possible after you have been attacked or physically abused.

Obtaining a restraining order

You do not have to hire a lawyer to apply for a TRO. (If your husband or partner is employed, an attorney may be willing to handle your case with the expectation that the court will order your attacker to pay your attorney fees.) Application forms with instruction booklets are available at the courthouse, at most women's shelters and at some police stations. A section of the form asks for a description of what happened to you when you were beaten. Be very specific - you should explain in detail what happened to you when you were abused. If you called the police when you were attacked, include a copy of the police report with your form. If you needed medical attention, include a copy of the hospital record or your doctor's report.

The court may grant a TRO without your attacker being present in court. The court must see that the application form contains your sworn statements about the attack. You may also need to show the court that you have a right to remain in the house (usually by mortgage payment or renter receipts). Orders granted by the court at a TRO hearing will be effective only 20 to 25 days. In order to receive a longer-term restraining order (up to 1 year, or more in some cases) you will have to attend an order to show cause (OSC) hearing. Prior to the OSC hearing, the other party must receive notice of the hearing so the court can hear both sides. If your attacker has been served notice but does not appear at the hearing, the court will hear your case anyway and probably will grant the order you request by default. At the OSC hearing, the judge has the power to order your attacker to stay away from you and your house, to provide support for your children if he is their father and to

reimburse you for any loss of earnings or out-of-cash medical and legal expenses caused as a result of the attack. If you are married and file for divorce after abuse by your husband, the court may also order support payments and restrictions on the disposal of property. The judge may also suggest (or order) that you both participate in counseling.

Enforcing the court order

The law requires that a copy of a temporary or longer-term restraining order granted by the court must be delivered to your attacker and to the local law enforcement agencies which operate in the locations covered by the order. Be sure to keep a certified copy of any court order for yourself and carry it with you.

If your attacker ignores the court order in any way, there are three things you can do:

- Call the police and ask them to arrest him. Tell the officer on the phone about the order (he can verify the existence, terms and current status of any such order through the appropriate law enforcement agencies). Also show your copy to the officer when he arrives.
- You can make a citizen's arrest. (See "Citizen's arrest," page 21.)
- You can go to court and ask the judge to hold your husband or partner in contempt of court for violating the order.

If you do not have an attorney, the court may appoint counsel for you and order your husband or partner to pay court costs and reasonable legal fees.

THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

Calling the police will set the criminal justice system in motion. This may lead to the arrest, conviction and imprisonment of your attacker.

Calling the police

The police can help you in three ways:

- They can protect you from immediate danger and help you get out of the house safely.
- They can serve as a mediator between you and your batterer.
- In certain circumstances, they can arrest your attacker, which may lead to his conviction and even imprisonment.

The police generally view family disputes differently from other crimes because of the "personal" nature of the situation. This is why they may at times appear reluctant to interfere. However, there are certain things that you can say and do that will encourage them to intervene in your case.

When you call the police

Whenever you call the police, explain exactly what is happening to you. For example, "My husband hit me. Now he's threatening me with a knife." The dispatcher may ask you some questions. Answer as clearly as you can and, in addition, be sure to say if:

- you have suffered any serious injuries;
- your attacker is still there or has threatened to return soon;
- there is a weapon involved and, if so, what type;
- your attacker is drunk or on drugs;
- you have called the police before; and/or
- you have a temporary restraining order against him.

The police will respond faster if any of these factors are present, and they will be better prepared to help you when they arrive. Call them as soon as you can. If the police don't come within 10 minutes and you believe you are in danger, call again.

Arresting your batterer

Even if the police believe there is sufficient reason to arrest your husband or partner, they may be reluctant to do so. It has been their experience that women who initially ask to have their attackers arrested later often change their minds. A woman might do this for numerous reasons:

- She may want a reconciliation with her partner, and so has second thoughts about the arrest.
- She may fear that if her man goes to jail, he will lose his job and be unable to support her and/or her children.
- She may fear what the man might do to her for having him taken to jail.
- She may be concerned that if the man is arrested, their friends and family will find out about the situation.

Remember, arresting the batterer is only a short-term solution and, in the end, might make your situation worse. You must be prepared to insure your safety. The man will be in custody for only a little while and may try to hurt you again when he gets out.

On the other hand, arrest may be a good alternative if it makes the man realize that he has committed a serious crime, or if it allows you some time to decide what to do.

Citizen's arrest

The police may refuse to make an arrest if they did not see your attacker hurt you or if they don't think a crime has been committed. In spite of their reason(s) for not making an arrest, you are always entitled to make a citizen's arrest. The law provides that anyone can make an arrest of another person who commits a crime in his/her presence.

To make a citizen's arrest, you must ask the police to give you the appropriate forms to sign. (Say to the police, "I want to make a citizen's arrest.") Once you have told the police what happened to you and have signed the papers, the police are required to take the offender into custody. Be aware, however, that the law allows the police to release the man from custody if they think the charges against him are not legitimate.

Police report

Whether or not your attacker is arrested, make sure a police report is completed. The police report is the official record of what happened to you. It contains the date, names of people involved, what happened and how the dispute was handled. It is important that the police make a report, even if you don't plan to press charges at the time, because:

- You can use it to substantiate your story if you ever decide to press charges against your attacker.
- It provides a past history which may assist you in gaining the help of the police (and prosecutor) if you are ever threatened again.
- It can be used to show good cause for the court to grant a temporary restraining order if you should ever need one.

To insure that the police report is complete and accurate, it is important to show the officer(s) your injuries. Write down the name(s) and badge number(s) of the officer(s), and ask for the police report number. This information will make it easier for you to get a copy of the police report later.

Deciding to prosecute

If your husband or partner is arrested, the district attorney (prosecutor) will decide whether there is enough evidence to begin criminal proceedings against him. For the same reason that the police are sometimes reluctant to arrest your partner, the district attorney may be hesitant to prosecute. What you say or do can have a great deal of influence on this decision. You are most likely the primary (or only) witness and your cooperation is essential. (Domestic violence is a criminal act against the state, however, and the district attorney can prosecute, if he has sufficient evidence, without your approval or cooperation.)

If the district attorney decides to prosecute, he will act on your behalf against your batterer and will call on you to testify. You do not need to hire a private lawyer; however, if you would like to consult a lawyer and you either have the money or qualify for legal aid, you may do so.

Arraignment

Within 48 hours of his arrest, your attacker (the defendant) makes his first appearance in court at a hearing called an "arraignment." He will be informed of the charges against him and must enter a plea. The judge will then decide whether to hold him in jail until the next procedure or to release him. Most defendants in wife beating charges are released at this point. He can be released in two ways:

- He may be required to post a certain amount of money (bond or bail), or
- He may be released on his own recognizance (his personal promise to appear in court at all future hearings).

Either way, he is free to come and go as he pleases until the trial (except for the possible limitations imposed by any restraining order you may have obtained).

The trial and sentencing

At the trial you will be called to testify. You will be asked by the prosecutor to describe to the court the attack against you in great detail. Your batterer's attorney will also ask you questions.

The trial can be a traumatic and humiliating experience because of the questioning and because you will see your attacker in the courtroom. You should prepare yourself for the trial by reviewing the police report so that you have the facts firmly fixed in your mind.

You must keep in mind that the more detailed the information you provide the court in your testimony, the better your chance that your batterer will be convicted and sentenced to jail. The system makes it a long and difficult process, but follow through with it if you are convinced your batterer should be prosecuted.

At the end of the trial, your batterer will be found guilty or not guilty. If he is found guilty, the judge will decide what his sentence will be. The batterer can be sentenced to jail or state prison or placed on probation. In reality, men who are arrested for battering do not spend much time in jail, even after they have been convicted of a crime. This is especially true if it is the first arrest for battering. Under California law (Penal Code Section 1000.6), a first offender charged with a misdemeanor can receive counseling instead of a jail term.

Dispositional alternatives

The judge has a variety of dispositional alternatives in abuse cases. Once the judge hears both sides of the case, he or she can impose one or some combination of the following judgments:

- Refer the case for investigation by court personnel, a child protective services worker or social worker from another unit of the Department of Social Services.
- Impose a suspended sentence with probation. Probation carries with it specific terms and conditions - such as refraining from further abuse and/or possibly a restraining order. If the conditions of probation are violated, a jail or prison term (the suspended sentence) may be imposed.
- Order that both parties receive counseling.
- Order the abusive spouse to undergo psychiatric examination.
- Order the abusive spouse to substance-abuse counseling or treatment.
- Impose a fine.
- Impose a prison sentence (usually only in very severe situations).

The most common disposition is a suspended sentence with probation. Such court action may be helpful to alleviate domestic violence, if the abusive spouse is effectively intimidated by the potential jail sentence.

HELP FOR BATTERED WOMEN

If you are a battered woman, seek the assistance you need to make a better life for yourself.

If you need help, look in the yellow pages of your telephone book under "Women's Services and Organizations." If nothing is listed, look under the name of your city or county for departments of family services, social services, health and/or welfare. These agencies can often help you or refer you to someone who can. Also, check the white pages of your telephone book under the heading, "Crisis." Many areas have crisis hot lines that are answered 24 hours a day.

Remember that your local police and sheriff's departments exist to help you. You should always have their numbers handy for an emergency situation. County hospitals are designed to handle emergency problems. Other sources of help and/or referral are the Salvation Army or your private physician or attorney. Also, look in the yellow pages under "Attorney Referral Service" or "Legal Assistance" or "Bar Associations" if you have a low income and need a lawyer.

If you want the help of a women's organization and aren't sure if there is one in your community, contact either of the groups listed below. They will know which women's program is closest to your home.

In Northern California:

Western Center on Domestic Violence 870 Market Street, Room 1058 San Francisco, California 94102

9 a.m. - 5 p.m., Monday through Friday

In Southern California:

Southern California Coalition on Battered Women Post Office Box 5036 Santa Monica, California 90405 213/392-9874 9 a.m. - 5 p.m., Monday through Friday